
For requests for further information 
Contact: Rachel Graves 
E-Mail: rachel.graves@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

 
 

Southern Planning Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

Date: Wednesday 11th September 2024 

Time: 10.00 am 

Venue: Committee Suite 1,2 & 3, Westfields, Middlewich Road, 
Sandbach CW11 1HZ 

 

Please note that members of the public are requested to check the Council's 
website the week the Southern Planning Committee meeting is due to take place as 
Officers produce updates for some or all of the applications prior to the 
commencement of the meeting and after the agenda has been published. 
 

 

The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. 
Part 2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons 
indicated on the agenda and at the top of each report. 
 
It should be noted that Part 1 items of Cheshire East Council decision making meetings 
are audio recorded and the recordings will be uploaded to the Council’s website. 
 
 
PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
 To receive apologies for absence. 

 
2. Declarations of Interest/Pre Determination   
 
 To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any disclosable 

pecuniary interests, other registerable interests, and non-registerable interests in 
any item on the agenda and for Members to declare if they have pre-determined 
any item on the agenda. 
 

3. Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 3 - 12) 
 
 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 31 July 2024. 

 

Public Document Pack



4. Public Speaking   
 
 A total period of 5 minutes is allocated for each of the planning applications for the 

following: 
 

 Ward Councillors who are not members of the Planning Committee 

 The relevant Town/Parish Council 
 
A total period of 3 minutes is allocated for each of the planning applications for the 
following: 
 

 Members who are not members of the planning committee and are not the 
Ward Member 

 Objectors 

 Supporters 

 Applicants 
 

5. 23/2353C - LAND AT CENTURION WAY, MIDDLEWICH: Outline planning 
application for the erection of residential dwellings, green infrastructure with 
access and scale included all other matters Reserved (Pages 13 - 46) 

 
 To consider the above planning application. 

 
 
 
 
THERE ARE NO PART 2 ITEMS 
 
 
Membership:  Councillors J Bird, J Bratherton (Chair), L Buchanan, A Burton, R Fletcher, 
A Gage, A Kolker (Vice-Chair), R Morris, M Muldoon, G Smith and J  Wray 
 



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Southern Planning Committee 
held on Wednesday, 31st July, 2024 in the Council Chamber, Municipal 

Buildings, Earle Street, Crewe CW1 2BJ 
 

PRESENT 
 
Councillor J Bratherton (Chair) 
Councillor A Kolker (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors L Buchanan, A Burton, L Crane, D Edwardes, R Fletcher, 
R Morris, M Muldoon and J Wray 
 
OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE 
Dan Evans, Principal Planning Officer 
Gareth Taylerson, Principal Planning Officer 
Andrew Goligher, Highways Officer 
Andrew Poynton, Planning and Highways Lawyer 
Rachel Graves, Democratic Services 
 

 
7 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies were received from Councillor J Bird.  Councillor D Edwardes 
attended as a substitute. 

 
8 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST/PRE DETERMINATION  

 
Councillor L Crane, in the interest of openness, declared that she was the 
ward councillor for application 24/1598C.  Whilst she had called in the 
application to Committee, she had not predetermined the application. 
 
Councillor R Fletcher, in the interest of openness, declared in relation to 
application 23/2129C that he had attended consultation meetings, spoken 
as a visiting member at the Economy and Growth Committee when it 
considered the disposal of the public open space at Linley Road and 
attend meetings at Alsager Town Council.  Cllr Fletcher stated that would 
take not part in the consideration of this application and would leave the 
meeting for this application. 
 
Councillor M Muldoon, in the interests of openness in relation to 
applications 23/4597C and 24/1598C, declared that he was a member of 
Sandbach Town Council Planning Committee which had commented on 
these applications and stated that he would not take part in the 
consideration of them. 
 
Councillor A Koker, in the interests of openness in relation to application 
24/1108C, declared that he knew the owner of the land, but he had not 
discussed the application with them. 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



 
Councillor D Edwardes declared in relation to the Tree Preservation Order 
application that he had sat on a Licensing Sub Committee which had 
considered a licencing application from the landowner and stated that he 
would take no part in the consideration of the application. 
 

9 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 5 June 2024 be approved as a 
correct record. 
 

10 PUBLIC SPEAKING  
 
The public speaking time procedure was noted. 
 

11 24/1108C - THE ORCHARDS FARM, TWEMLOW LANE, HOLMES 
CHAPEL, CREWE, CHESHIRE, CW4 8DS: PROPOSED USE OF LAND 
FOR A ZOO & WILDLIFE CONSERVATION PARK INCLUDING 
AMENITY BUILDINGS, VISITOR CENTRE, ANIMAL ENCLOSURES, 
STORAGE CONTAINERS, ACCESS, PARKING AND ANCILLARY 
WORKS (RESUBMISSION OF 22/1435C)  
 
Consideration was given to the above planning application. 
 
The following attended the meeting and spoke in relation to the 
application: 
Councillor Russell Chadwick (ward member), Councillor Steve Edgar 
(neighbouring ward councillor), Annette McDonald (supporter), Kenzo 
Palmer (supporter) and Ben Mews (applicant). 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the application be referred to the Strategic Planning Board as the 
Committee was minded to APPROVE against recommendation for the 
following reason: (To be reviewed by the Head of Planning) 
 
The Southern Planning Committee consider that this business requires an 
open countryside location, the site is suitable for employment development 
and is adjacent to another business which attracts similar customers. The 
harm to the countryside does not outweigh the economic benefits of the 
development. The proposal is considered to comply with the relevant 
policies of the Development Plan including PG6 of the CELPS and RUR10 
of the SADPD. 
 
And the following conditions: 
1. Compliance with the approved plans. 

2. Landscape scheme to be submitted within 3 months of the date of 

decision. 

Page 4



3. Landscape implementation. 

4. Habitat Management Plan to be submitted within 3 months of the 

date of decision. 

5. Visibility splays to be provided within 1 month of the date of 

decision and kept clear of obstructions. 

6. Signage details to be submitted within 3 months of the date of 

decision. 

7. Compliance with the Noise Mitigation Measures 

8. Hours of opening to the public/deliveries – 10:00 – 17:00 Monday – 

Sunday 

9. Lighting Scheme to be submitted within 3 months of the date of 

decision. 

10. Boundary Treatment to be submitted within 3 months of the date of 

decision. 

11. Materials to be submitted within 3 months of the date of decision. 

12. Hard Surfacing to be submitted within 3 months of the date of 

decision. 

13. Parking and coach parking areas to be provided prior to being open 

to members of the public and thereafter be retained. 

 
In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of Planning 
has delegated authority to do so in consultation with the Chair of the 
Southern Planning Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed 
the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision. 
 
This decision was contrary to the officer’s recommendation of refusal. 
 

12 23/2129C - HOUSING DEVELOPMENT SITE, LINLEY ROAD, 
ALSAGER: ERECTION OF 70NO. AFFORDABLE HOMES, WITH 
ASSOCIATED ACCESS, CAR PARKING, LANDSCAPING AND PUBLIC 
OPEN SPACE  
 
Having declared an interest, Councillor R Fletcher left the meeting whilst 
the Committee considered this planning application. 
 
Consideration was given to the above planning application. 
 
The following attended the meeting and spoke in relation to the 
application:  
Sue Helliwell (objector) and Louise Leyland (agent). 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the application be REFUSED for the following reasons: 
 

Page 5



1 The proposal by not providing the policy required financial 
contributions towards health, education, highway improvements & 
BNG and would not mitigate the impacts of the development on the 
local community. The proposal is therefore contrary to Policies SD1, 
SD2, IN1, IN2, SC2, SE6, LPS 21 of the CELPS and REC2 of the 
CELPS, H3, TTS6, NBE5 of the ANP and the NPPF. 
 

2 the proposal appears cramped as nearly half (47%) of the proposed 
dwellings have insufficient private amenity space which would not 
result in the creation of a suitable living environment for future 
occupiers.  The proposed development is contrary to Policies SE1, 
SD1 and SD2 of the CELPS, GEN1 & HOU13 of the SADPD and 
the NPPF. 

 
3 The design and layout of the proposed development is considered 

to be poor and fails to take the opportunities available for improving 
the character and quality of the area.  As a result, the proposal 
would not make a positive contribution to the area, and would be 
contrary to Policy SD1, SD2, SE1 of the CELPS, The Cheshire East 
Design Guide SPD, Policy Gen1, HOU10 of the SADPD, H6 of the 
ANP and the requirements of the NPPF and the requirements of the 
NPPF. 

 
4 the proposal would not provide a suitable mix of property types 

given the limited number of 1 beds and no justification has been 
provided for the local need for this mix of housing.  The proposal 
also fails to provide 6% wheel chair adaptable dwellings.  As such 
the proposal is contrary to Policy SC4 of the CELPS, HOU8 of the 
SAPDP, H1 of the ANP and guidance contained within the NPPF. 

 
5 the proposal would result in the loss of an existing area of protected 

open space with no improvements made to the overall open space 
provision within Alsager.  As a result the proposal is contrary to 
Policy SE6 of the CELPS, REC1 of the SADPD, NBE1 of the ANP 
and the guidance within the NPPF. 

 
6 The proposal whilst showing a net gain for biodiversity of 12.31 

units (3.42%), does not satisfy ‘trading rules’ as there is failure to 
replace lost habitats with new habitats of the required type or 
quality. Schemes that fail to comply with the trading rules cannot be 
said to achieve a net gain. As a result, the proposal is contrary to 
Policies SE3 of the CELPS & ENV2 of the SADPD and NBE5 of the 
ANP. 

 
In order to give proper effect to the Committee’s intent and without 
changing the substance of its decision, authority is delegated to the Head 
of Planning, in consultation with the Chair (or in their absence Vice Chair) 
of the Southern Planning Committee to correct any technical slip or 
omission in the resolution, before issue of the decision notice. 
 

Page 6



Should the application be subject to an appeal, the following Heads of 
Terms should be secured as part of any S106 Agreement: 
 

S106 Amount Triggers 

Affordable Housing 100% site provision In accordance with 
phasing 

Education £241,612.28 towards 
secondary education 
and SEN 

To be paid prior to the 
occupation of the 34th 
dwelling 

NHS £81,122 to support 
Cedars Medical Centre 
and Merepark Medical 
Centre 

To be paid prior to the 
occupation of the 34th 
dwelling 

POS 6,252m2 of combined 
amenity and play 
provision on site 
 
£103,259.64 for 
outdoor sport 
contribution recreation 

To be paid prior to the 
occupation of the 34th 
dwelling 

Highways £110,000 full sum to be paid prior 
to the occupation of the 
34th dwelling. 

 
13 23/4597C - LAND OFF, WRIGHTS LANE, SANDBACH: ERECTION OF 

13NO. DWELLINGS, ASSOCIATED PARKING, OPEN SPACE AND 
LANDSCAPING  
 
Having declared an interest, Councillor M Muldoon did not take part in the 
consideration of this item. 
 
Consideration was given to the above planning application. 
 
The following attended the meeting and spoke in relation to the 
application: 
Councillor Sam Corcoran (ward councillor), Matthias Bunte (objector) and 
Laura Miller (agent). 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That for the reasons set out in the report and reported at the meeting, the 
approval of the application be DELEGATED to the Head of Panning, in 
consultation with the Chair of Southern Planning Committee, to resolve the 
outstanding Biodiversity Net Gain matters, and to ensure that the parking 
area is secured via a condition or S106 Agreement (if the separate parking 
area application is refused then this application will be referred back to 
Southern Planning Committee), with the a S106 agreement with the 
following head of terms: 
 
 

Page 7



S106 Amount Triggers 

Education £71,484.02 (primary 
education) 
£49,159.29 (secondary 
education) 

Primary – full amount 
prior to first occupation 
Secondary – full 
amount prior to first 
occupation of 6th 
dwelling 

Outdoor Sport Contribution of £13,000 Full amount prior to 
first occupation 

Offside Open Space Contribution of £39,000 Full amount prior to 
first occupation of the 
6th dwelling 

Open Space Scheme of 
Management 

Scheme of 
Management to be 
secured and agreed 
with the LPA 

 
 
and the following conditions: 
 
1 Standard time 3 years 

2 Approved Plans 

3 Low emission boiler provision 

4 Electric Vehicle Charging provision 

5 Travel Plan provision 

6 Contaminated Land Assessment to be submitted and approved 

7 Contaminated Land Verification Report 

8 Contaminated Land Importation of Soil 

9 Unexpected contamination 

10 Detailed drainage strategy to be submitted and approved 

11 Land levels to be submitted and approved 

12 Materials to be submitted and approved 

13 Boundary treatment to be submitted and approved 

14 Window reveal to be provided 

15 Breading birds – timing of works 

16 Hedgehogs – Precautionary Method Statement 

17 Lighting details to be submitted and approved 

18 Ecological Enhancements to be submitted and approved 

19 10% of energy needs to be from renewable or low carbon energy 

20 Prior to the commencement of development, a scheme for the 

relocation of the telegraph pole and council bin be submitted and 

approved 

21 Landscaping to be submitted 

22 Landscaping to be completed 

23 Hard surfacing to be completed in accordance with the submitted 

details 

Page 8



24 at least 30% of the dwellings in housing developments should 

comply with the requirements of M4(2) category of the Building 

Regulations regarding accessible and adaptable dwellings. 

25 at least 6% of the dwellings in housing developments should comply 

with the requirement m4(3)(2)(a) category of the Building 

Regulations regarding wheelchair adaptable dwellings. 

26 Details of the surfacing of the PROW to be submitted and approved. 

27 Compliance with the Tree Protection Plan and Arboricultural Impact 

Assessment 

28 Details of the construction of the highway within the root protection 

area of T3 to be submitted and approved.  Hand dig construction 

only. 

 
In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issues, the Head of Planning 
had delegated authority to do so in consultation with the Chair of the 
Southern Planning Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed 
the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision. 
 
If the application is subject to an appeal approval is given to enter into a 
S106 Agreement with the following Heads of Terms: 
 

S106 Amount Triggers 

Education £71,484.02 (primary 
education) 
£49,159.29 (secondary 
education) 

Primary – full amount 
prior to first occupation 
Secondary – full 
amount prior to first 
occupation of 6th 
dwelling 

Outdoor Sport Contribution of £13,000 Full amount prior to 
first occupation 

Offside Open Space Contribution of £39,000 Full amount prior to 
first occupation of the 
6th dwelling 

Open Space Scheme of 
Management 

Scheme of 
Management to be 
secured and agreed 
with the LPA 

 
 

14 24/1598C - 477, CREWE ROAD, SANDBACH, CW11 3RT: CHANGE OF 
USE FROM HOT FOOD TAKEAWAY TO OFFICE FOR TAXI COMPANY  
 
Having declared an interest, Councillor M Muldoon did not take part in the 
consideration of this item. 
 
Consideration was given to the above planning application. 

Page 9



The following attended the meeting and spoke in relation to the 
application: 
Mr M Khan and Mrs Adele Hand (applicants). 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That for the reasons set out in the report, the application be APPROVED, 
subject to the following conditions: 
 
1 Standard Time 

2 Approved Plans 

3 Hours of operation 5 am to 1 am 

4 This change of use relates to the ground floor of the building only 

5 The taxi office hereby approved shall be for telephone and online 

bookings only.  No taxis shall be dispatched from the premises and 

the office shall not have public access for bookings. 

 
In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for refusal) prior to 
the decision being issued, the Head of Planning has delegated authority to 
do so in consultation with the Chair of the Southern Planning Committee, 
provided the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the 
Committee’s decision. 
 

15 WITHDRAWN 24/0214N - SANTUNE MEADOWS, LAND ADJACENT TO 
OLD PUSEYDALE, MAIN ROAD, SHAVINGTON, CW2 5DU: 
VARIATION OF CONDITIONS 2 AND 18 ON APPLICATION 21/1920N: 
TO ALLOW FOR COFFIN BURIALS TO RESPOND TO DEMAND  
 
This item was withdrawn prior to the meeting. 
 

16 WITHDRAWN 24/1906C - OFFICE FIRST FLOOR, THE HUUB 
BUILDING, MANCHESTER ROAD, CONGLETON: CHANGE OF USE 
TO THE FIRST FLOOR ONLY FROM OFFICE AND RESTAURANT TO 
RESIDENTIAL HMO  
 
This item was withdrawn prior to the meeting. 
 

17 CHESHIRE EAST BOROUGH COUNCIL (GOLDFORD LANE -
BICKERTON NO1) TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 2024  
 
Having declared an interest, Councillor D Edwardes left the meeting during 
consideration of this item. 
 
The Committee considered the report on the background and issues 
surrounding the making of a Tree Preservation Order on 13 March 2024 at 
land at Goldford Lane, Bickerton, and the considered the representation 

Page 10



made to the Council with regard to the content of the Tree Preservation 
Order. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Tree Preservation Order at Goldford Lane, Bickerton be 
confirmed with no modifications. 
 
 
 
 

The meeting commenced at 10.00 am and concluded at 12.54 pm 
 

Councillor J Bratherton (Chair) 
 

 
 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 
OFFICIAL 

 
   Application No: 23/2353C 

 
   Location: Land at Centurion Way, Middlewich 

 
   Proposal: Outline planning application for the erection of residential dwellings, green 

infrastructure with access and scale included all other matters Reserved 
 

   Applicant: 
 

N/a, BLOK (UK) Ltd 

   Expiry Date: 
 

11-Sep-2024 

 
 
 

 
SUMMARY 
 
The site is located both within the Settlement Boundary for Middlewich, as such Policy PG9 of 
the SADPD identifies that within the Settlement Boundary proposals 'will be supported where 
they are in keeping with the scale, role and function of that settlement and do not conflict with 
any other relevant policy in the local plan'. The site is also allocated for residential development 
of around 75 new homes under SADPD Policy MID 2. 
 
As such the proposal, subject to the additional minerals assessment, is acceptable from a land 
use perspective and complies with the allocation under Policy MID 2. 
 
The benefits of the proposal would be the provision of open market and affordable housing 
and the limited economic benefits during construction.  
 
The proposed housing mix would be secured at reserved maters to comply with SADPD Policy 
HOU8. 
 
The development appears capable of being accommodated with resulting in harm to living 
conditions of neighbouring properties and complies with SADPD Policy HOU12. 
 
The proposal would not cause harm to existing landscape features and complies with CELPS 
Policies SE5 & SADPD policy ENV6.  
 
The proposal would not result in any significant ecological harm and complies with CELPS 
Policies SE3 and SADPD policies ENV1 & ENV 2. 
 
The proposal appears capable of being accommodated without causing harm to the 
character/appearance of the area to comply with CELPS Policies SE1 & SADPD policy GEN1 
and the Design Guide SPD. 
 
The development would not have significant drainage/flood risk implications and would be 
compliant with CELPS SE13 & SADPD ENV16. 
 

Page 13 Agenda Item 5



 
OFFICIAL 

In conclusion the proposal subject to minerals assessment and POS complies with the 
development plan as a whole and is recommended for approval. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Subject to the submission of an acceptable Minerals Resource Assessment. APPROVE 
subject to the completion of a S106 Agreement and conditions. 
 

 
REASON FOR REFERRAL 
 
The application is referred to Southern Planning Committee as it relates to a development of more 
than 20 dwellings. 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
This is an outline planning application for the erection of residential dwellings, green infrastructure. 
The matters of access and scale are to be determined at this stage and all other matters are 
reserved. 
 
JURISTICTION 
 
This application site crosses the boundaries of both Cheshire East (CE) & Cheshire West and 
Chester Council (CWAC). 
 
The land in CE equates to approximately 67% of the site with the remaining 33% being in CWAC 
(See plan below showing the land split with north of the dotted line being CWAC and south of the 
line being CE). 
 
Up to 95 dwellings are proposed across the site with the illustrative plan showing up 75 within CE 
and 20 within CWAC. 
 
One over-arching proposal has been prepared within two identical applications submitted to each 
LPA (CE and CWAC). The LPAs then determine the part of the proposal relating to the land within 
their respective administrative boundaries. 
 
A planning application should be determined by the planning authority in whose administrative area 
the development proposed is to be carried out. In the case of cross boundary applications, this can 
lead to two planning authorities making individual determinations, which lead to a conflict in the 
decision-making process (approve/refuse). 
 
If CEC grant planning permission, there is a requirement for CWAC to agree in relation to the part 
within its jurisdiction. If CWAC refuse planning permission then the applicant does not have 
planning permission and cannot implement any of the permission, even the section in CEC (if 
approved). 

Page 14



 
OFFICIAL 

 
 

 
SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
The application site comprises a parcel of land sited just off the junction of Centurian Way and 
Holmes Chapel Road. 
 
Area consists of predominantly residential properties to the south and west, agricultural land to the 
north and east. Some commercial premises are also located to the south-east. 
 
No significant variation in land levels noted. 
 
The site is also enclosed by 2/3m high planting. 
 
The entire site covers 3.86 hectares with the land within Cheshire East totalling 2.56 hectares. 
 
The site is located in the Settlement Boundary and is allocated for residential development as part 
of Policy MID2. 
 
RELEVANT HISTORY 
 
17/4705C – Outline application for the erection of up to 370 dwellings a new church with ancillary 
facilities and associated parking, landscaping, public open spaces and play areas – Refused 30-
Jan-2019 
 
16/3334S – Screening Opinion for mixed use development consisting of church/community, 
commercial uses (to be defined), up to 500 houses and associated open space – Environmental 
Impact Assessment Required 

Page 15



 
OFFICIAL 

 
NATIONAL & LOCAL POLICY 
 
National Policy 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework establishes a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. Of particular relevance are paragraphs: 
 
11.  Presumption in favour of sustainable development. 
60-84.  Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes 
131-141. Achieving well-designed places 
180-194. Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
 
Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy – Adopted Version (CELPS)  
 
MP1 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
SD1 – Sustainable Development in Cheshire East 
SD2 – Sustainable Development Principles 
SE1 – Design 
SE2 – Efficient Use of Land 
SE3 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
SE4 – The Landscape 
SE5 – Trees, Hedgerows and Woodland 
SE6 – Green Infrastructure 
SE9 – Energy Efficient Development,  
SE12 – Pollution, Land Contamination and Land Instability  
SE13 – Flood Risk and Water Management 
PG1 – Overall Development Strategy 
PG2 – Settlement Hierarchy 
PG6 – Open Countryside 
PG7 – Spatial Distribution 
SC4 – Residential Mix 
IN2 – Developer Contributions 
CO1 – Sustainable Travel and Transport 
CO4 – Travel Plans and Transport Assessments  
SC5 – Affordable Homes 
IN1 – Infrastructure 
IN2 – Developer Contributions 
SC2 – Indoor and Outdoor Sports Facilities 

  
Relevant policies of the Site Allocations and Development Policies Document (SADPD); 

 
PG9 Settlement Boundaries 
GEN 1 Design Principles 
ENV 1 Ecological Network 
ENV 2 Ecological Implementation 
ENV 3 Landscape Character 
ENV5 Landscaping 
ENV6 Trees, Hedgerows and Woodlands 

Page 16



 
OFFICIAL 

ENV 7 Climate change 
ENV16 Surface Water Management and Flood Risk 
HOU1 Housing Mix 
HOU3 Self Build and Custom Build Dwellings 
HOU 8 Space, accessibility and wheelchair housing standards 
HOU10 Backland Development 
HOU12 Amenity 
HOU13 Residential Standards 
HOU14 Housing Densities 
HOU16 Small and Medium Sites 
INF3 Highways Safety and Access 
INF 9 Utilities 
REC 2 Indoor sport and recreation implementation 
REC 3 Open space implementation 
MID 2 Centurion Way 

 
Middlewich Neighbourhood Plan (The local referendum for Middlewich NDP was held on the 14 
March 2019 and returned a 'no vote) 

 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
CEC Highways: No objection subject to conditions requiring access works to be implemented, 
construction management plan and contribution to mitigate the Highways impact by contributing 
towards the MEB/Leadsmithy Street works with a contribution of £6,329.23 per property. 

 
CEC Environmental Health: No objection subject to conditions/informatives offered in all other 
regards such as working hours, electric vehicle charging, boilers, noise mitigation, piling, dust, floor 
floating and contaminated land. 
 
CEC Flood Risk: No objection subject to condition requiring drainage design and cross sections. 

 
CEC Housing: No objection. 
 
CEC Education: No objection subject to contribution towards secondary education and SEN. 
 
CEC Public Open Space: Proposal has a shortfall of amenity and play space and requires a NEAP 
facility. 
 
CEC Minerals and Waste Officer – Objection as more detailed ground investigations are required 
to provide an accurate picture of the ground conditions on the site.   
 
Cheshire Archaeology: No objection subject to condition requiring a written scheme of 
archaeological investigation. 
 
NHS: No objection subject to contribution. 
 
Natural England: No objection. 
 

Page 17



 
OFFICIAL 

United Utilities: No objection subject to condition requiring a sustainable surface water drainage 
scheme and a foul water drainage scheme. 

 
VIEWS OF THE PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 
 
Middlewich Town Council – Objects on the following grounds: 
 

 Highway safety concerns 

 Road speed should be reduced 

 No direct cycle or pedestrian access to Middlewich Town 

 No bus stop or service 

 Harm to designated wildlife sites 

 Insufficient size of POS 

 Road noise and air quality issues 

 Impact to doctors and school places 

 Contrary to Policy PG6 of the CELPS and Policies within CWAC 
 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 
53 letters of objection to initial scheme and 61 letters of objection to the revised scheme which raise 
the following issues: 
 

 Loss of green spaces 

 Harm to wildlife 

 Highway safety concerns 

 Road congestion 

 Pollution 

 Lack of public transport 

 Impact on infrastructure (NHS, schools) 

 Outside of CE land 
 

APPRAISAL 
 
Principle of Development 
 
The site is located within the Settlement Boundary for Middlewich, as such Policy PG9 of the 
SADPD identifies that within the Settlement Boundary proposals 'will be supported where they are 
in keeping with the scale, role and function of that settlement and do not conflict with any other 
relevant policy in the local plan'.  

 
The site is also allocated for residential development of around 75 new homes under SADPD Policy 
MID 2 which advises that development proposals must: 
 
1. seek to retain as much of the existing boundary hedges as possible as part of a comprehensive 
landscaping scheme, which should be designed to mitigate any impact of the development upon 
the wider landscape; 
 

Page 18



 
OFFICIAL 

2. include a strategy for the provision and long term management of off-site habitat for ground 
nesting farmland birds; 
 
3. make a contribution towards the delivery of the Middlewich Eastern Bypass; and 
 
4. undertake a Mineral Resource Assessment for sand and gravel. 
 
The current proposal across the sites seeks up to 95 houses with the illustrative plan showing 75 
houses within the CEC. This proposal aligns with the land use element of the allocation MID2.  
 
In terms of landscaping the proposal seeks to retain the majority of existing planting, bar that 
required for access and visibility, however compensatory planting and further enhancement can be 
secured at the Reserved Matters stage (landscaping is a Reserved Matter).  
 
The management of off-site habitat can be secured by a 30-year ecological management plan and 
a contribution towards the bypass can be secured by S106 (both issues discussed in more detail 
below).  
 
A mineral assessment has been provided which concludes that the site is not suitable for mineral 
extraction due to the high-water table, however further information has been requested from the 
Councils Minerals and Waste Officer as more detailed ground investigations are required to provide 
an accurate picture of the ground conditions on the site. This has been requested and will be 
presented in the update report along with further comments of the Councils Minerals and Waste 
Officer. 
 
As such the proposal, subject to the additional minerals assessment, is acceptable from a land use 
perspective and complies with the allocation under Policy MID 2. 

 
The issue in question is whether there are other material considerations associated with this 
proposal, which are a sufficient material consideration to outweigh the policy support. 

 
Housing Land Supply 

 
The Council has deliverable supply of housing land in excess of the minimum of 5 years required 
under national planning policy. As a consequence of the decision by the Environment and 
Communities Committee on 1 July 2022, to carry out an update of the Local Plan Strategy (LPS), 
from 27 July (the fifth anniversary of its adoption), the borough’s deliverable housing land supply is 
now calculated using the Council’s Local Housing Need figure.  
 
The latest published assessment of deliverable housing land supply can be found in the Cheshire 
East Housing Monitoring Update (base date 31 March 2022) which confirms a deliverable five-year 
housing land supply of 11.6 years. The 2022 Housing Delivery Test Result was published by the 
Department for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities (DLUHC) on the 19 December 2023 and this 
confirmed a Housing Delivery Test Result of 296% for Cheshire East. Under-performance against 
either of these can result in relevant policies concerning the supply of housing being considered 
out-of-date with the consequence that the ‘tilted balance’ at paragraph 11 of the NPPF is engaged.  
 
However, because of the Council’s strong performance, the ‘tilted balance’ is not engaged by 
reference to these housing supply and delivery tests. 

Page 19



 
OFFICIAL 

Affordable Housing 
 
This is an outline application and as per Policy SC5 there is a requirement for 30% of dwellings to 
be provided as affordable dwellings with a split of 65/35 between social rented and intermediate 
housing.  
 
Cheshire East Council have an ambition to support rent levels which do not exceed either the local 
housing allowance for the area or regulator for social housing target rent amounts, whichever is 
lowest. So, the Councils Housing Officers asks for consideration of this on rental homes to ensure 
that this type of accommodation remain truly affordable. Due to the rental need from our Cheshire 
Homechoice data, a mixture of sizes should be provided. 
 
The need in Middlewich for those with local connection and the highest need is as follows: 
1 bed = 56 
2 bed = 13 
3 bed  = 27 
4 bed = 6 
 
Local plan policy SC5 and the Housing SPD 6.43 require pepper potting of affordable homes 
throughout a site. The site plan provided would need further pepper potting however this is simply 
illustrative at this stage and this could be addressed at reserved matters stage. 
 
If one bed homes are to be provided, bungalows or cottage style apartments are required, so the 
properties are given their own entrances. 

 
The exact mix and location of the affordable dwellings can be detailed in the Reserved Matters 
application, with the provision secured as part of a S106 Agreement. 

 
Education 
 
The development of up 75 applicable dwellings is expected to generate: 
 
21 - Primary children (75 x 0.29) – 1 SEN 
10 - Secondary children (75 x 0.14) – 1 SEN 
2 – SEN child (75 x 0.60 x 0.047) 
 
The development is expected to impact on primary and secondary school places in the locality. 
Contributions which have been negotiated on other developments are factored into the forecasts 
both in terms of the increased pupil numbers and the increased capacity at primary and secondary 
schools in the area because of agreed financial contributions. The analysis undertaken has 
identified that a shortfall of secondary school places remains.  
 
The Education Department acknowledges that this is an existing concern, however the 10 
secondary age children expected from Land at Centurion Way, Middlewich will exacerbate the 
shortfall.   
 
Special Education Need provision within Cheshire East Council currently has a shortage of places 
available with at present over 47% of pupils educated outside of the Borough.  The service 

Page 20



 
OFFICIAL 

acknowledges that this is an existing concern, however the 2 children expected from Land at 
Centurion Way, Middlewich will exacerbate the shortfall 
 
To alleviate forecast pressures, the below formula would be used to calculate the contribution as 
final numbers are not set: 

 
£26,717 per secondary pupil place 
£74,920 per SEN pupil place 
 
The Secondary money would be spent at any secondary school within 3 walking miles of the 
development. The SEN money would be spent on any SEN scheme within the borough. The 
contributions would be secured as part of a S106 Agreement. 
  
Health 
 
The NHS have been consulted who advise that the GP Practices most directly affected by this 
large-scale housing development have seen significant increases in their patient list size over the 
last few years. This coupled with changes into how primary care services are delivered to patients 
has resulted a significant lack of both clinical and administrative capacity, which directly impacts on 
the ability to provide appointments for patients. Any new housing development would look to 
continue to impact on this, and infrastructure provision is a requirement from housing developers in 
order to safeguard Primary Care facilities and provide a contribution towards to continued required 
investment. 
 
In order to mitigate the impact of this development a contribution has been requested based on the 
formula below as final numbers are not set and this will be secured as part of a S106 Agreement.  

 

 
 

As a result, the contribution is considered to be both reasonable and necessary and should be 
secured by way of section 106 agreement. 
 
Open Space 
 
Policy SE6 requires major developments (10 or more) to provide open space in line with Table 13.1 
of this policy, which requires 65m² per dwelling consisting of children’s play space, amenity green 
space, food growth and green infrastructure connectivity to be provided on site in the first instance. 
However, the policy also advises that in some cases, commuted sums generally may be more 
appropriate for improvement of other open spaces and green infrastructure connectivity. 

 
The Councils Open Space officer has been consulted and advises that the central area of open 
space has widened slightly but also been dissected at the southern end with an access road making 

Page 21



 
OFFICIAL 

the space fragmented.  A LEAP size facility has been located on the larger space however the 
minimum buffers are only just being met.  This may influence the design and capability/capacity of 
the facility. The facility should be accessible and inclusive for children of all abilities.   
 
The Open Space Typology Plan previously showed open space in the south as G.I. Buffer to satisfy 
the G.I. Connectivity element of Policy SE6 some of which has now changed under the heading 
Green Amenity Space. Despite certain areas identified as green amenity space they are not suitable 
for that function.  The small spaces adjacent to car parking and dwellings in the south of the 
development are not multifunctional and cannot be used for recreation by the community as POS 
as they are too small and could cause a nuisance issue for adjacent occupants. Some of the space 
measured are just shy of 1m wide but appear to have been included in the Green Amenity Space 
(1,857m²) calculation. 
 
In terms of quantum the site requires the following minimum open space requirement: 
  
Combined Amenity and children’s play 3,800m²  2,451m² (Central POS) 
G.I. Connectivity      1,900m²  7,812m² (GI Buffer) 
Food production      475m²  ---- 
 
Upon measuring the central combined open space, the figure offered by the applicant seem to fall 
short slightly. 
 
Although the GI Connectivity minimum requirement has been met, this does not compensate for 
the shortfall of amenity and play space. The site allocation MID 1 contained within the SADPD 
requires the retention of existing mature hedgerows around the boundaries of the site as far as 
possible and safeguard and protect, through an undeveloped and open landscaped buffer zone. It 
is welcomed the applicant has taken note of the MID 1 requirements.   
 
There may be further scope for a LAP/Play on the go on the CWAC section of the application site, 
however it is difficult to predict if CWAC will approve that part of the application. In addition to this, 
the Councils Open Space Officer is mindful of the MID 1 requirement for undeveloped and open 
landscape buffer therefore very careful thought would be needed if this is to be considered an 
option. 
 
The Councils Open Space Officer also deems that as this site has a major barrier in the B5309, the 
site should be able to standalone supporting the needs of the new community.  It is with this in 
mind; a holistic approach should be taken looking at the site overall. 
 
A NEAP facility should be provided, for clarity this would be the case if looking at CEC side on its 
own merit without the addition of the 20 units on the CWAC adjoining site.  Looking at the site in its 
entirety, a NEAP and surrounding amenity space for informal recreation is recommended. 
 
These comments have been provided to the applicant and a response along with further review by 
the Council Open Space Officer will be provided in the update report. 
 
In terms of outdoor sports facilities, the proposal will increase demand on existing facilities as such 
a financial contribution towards off site provision will be required.  The financial contribution is 
required at a rate of £1564.54 per family (2+ bed) dwelling and £782.27 per bed space to a 

Page 22



 
OFFICIAL 

maximum of £1564.54 per apartment.  The funds would be used in line with the Council’s adopted 
Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Strategy. 
 
The sustainability and future management of the GI, play and amenity should be demonstrated 
through the submission of a management plant at reserved matters stage. 

 
Any POS requirement could be secured via a S106 Agreement. 

 
Location of the site 
 
Both policies SD1 and SD2 of the CELPS refer to supporting development in sustainable locations. 
Within the justification text of Policy SD2 is a sustainable development location checklist. 
 
In this instance the supporting statement has provided a brief appraisal of the nearby 
amenities/facilities which advises that there is a Tesco Express, Morrisons and Lidl within walking 
distance with the town centre being 880m away to the west. The nearest primary school is located 
1.4km to the south-west. Based on the D and G Bus website there is a bus stop located 170m away 
to the west with 8 services Monday to Friday and 6 services on Saturday. 
 
This distance is within of the target walking distance of 500m as noted in Policy SD2. Also, as the 
site has been allocated for residential development, the site has already been deemed locationally 
sustainable. 
 
As a result, the site would appear to meet a number of thresholds contained with Policies SD1 & 
SD2 in terms of locational sustainability. 
  
Housing Mix 
 
Policy SC4 advises that new residential development should maintain, provide or contribute to a 
mix of housing tenures, types and sizes to help support the creation of mixed, balanced and 
inclusive communities. 
 
Policy HOU1 In line with LPS Policy SC 4 'Residential mix', housing developments should deliver 
a range and mix of house types, sizes and tenures, which are spread throughout the site and that 
reflect and respond to identified housing needs and demand. In particular it suggests a 
recommended mix as below as a starting point: 
 

 
 
The housing mix is not known at this stage as the proposal only seeks details of access and scale. 
As such suitable mix of housing would be addressed at reserved matters stage. 

Page 23



 
OFFICIAL 

Residential Amenity 
 

With regards to neighbouring amenity, Policy HOU12 advises development proposals must not 
cause unacceptable harm to the amenities of adjoining or nearby occupiers of residential properties, 
sensitive uses, or future occupiers of the proposed development due to: 
1. loss of privacy; 
2. loss of sunlight and daylight; 
3. the overbearing and dominating effect of new buildings; 
4. environmental disturbance or pollution; or 
5. traffic generation, access and parking. 
 
Policy HOU13 sets standards for spacing between windows of 18m between front elevations, 21m 
between rear elevations or 14m between habitable to non habitable rooms. For differences in land 
levels it suggests an additional 2.5m for levels exceed 2m 
 
The main residential properties affected by this development are properties on Centurion Way to 
the south and properties off Byley Lane to the east. 
 
The illustrative site plan suggests that the proposed properties would provide excess of the required 
14/21m interface distances to existing residential properties. 
 
Environmental Protection have also raised no objections subject to conditions regarding a travel 
plan and contaminated land. They have also suggested conditions to deal with road noise. 

 
As a result, the layout suggests that the proposal could be provided without significant harm to living 
conditions of neighbouring properties. In any case the final layout would be determined at reserved 
matters stage. 

 
Amenity to proposed occupants 
 
The final layout would not be known until reserved maters stage however the illustrative plans 
indicate that all of the plots would appear capable of providing at least the recommended minimum 
garden area of 65sqm as noted in the SPG.  

 
Therefore, the proposal complies with Policies HOU12. 

 
Space standards/Wheelchair access 
 
Policy HOU8 of the SADPD states that in order to meet the needs of the Borough’s residents and 
to deliver dwellings that are capable of meeting people’s changing circumstances over their lifetime, 
the following accessibility and wheelchair standard will be applied to major developments; 
 
a) At least 30% of the dwellings in housing developments should comply with the requirements of 

M4(2) Category 2 of the Building Regulations regarding accessible and adaptable dwellings; 
and 

b) At least 6% of the dwellings in housing developments should comply with the requirement m4 
(3)(2)(a) Category 3 of the Building Regulations regarding wheelchair adaptable dwellings. 

 

Page 24



 
OFFICIAL 

Policy HOU8 also requires compliance with requires that new housing developments comply with 
the Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS) 
 
The final layout is not known at this stage however the above requirement for wheelchair access 
could be secured by condition. Compliance with the NDSS would be addressed at reserved matters 
stage. 

 
Contaminated Land 
 
The application is for new residential properties which are a sensitive end use and could be affected 
by any contamination present. As such Environmental Health Officers have requested conditions 
dealing with contaminated land. 
 
Air Quality 
 
Policy SE12 of the CELPS states that the Council will seek to ensure all development is located 
and designed so as not to result in a harmful or cumulative impact upon air quality.  
 
An Air Quality Assessment has been provided. The assessment considers whether the 
development will result in increased exposure to airborne pollutants, particularly as a result of 
additional traffic and changes to traffic flows. The assessment uses ADMS Roads to model NO2, 
PM10 and PM2.5 impacts from additional traffic associated with this development and the 
cumulative impact of committed development within the area.   
 
A number of modelled scenarios have been considered within the assessment. These were: 
 
• 2019 verification;  
• 2028 future baseline; and 
• 2028 future baseline + proposed development 
 
The assessment concludes that the impact of the future development on the chosen receptors will 
be not significant with regards to all the modelled pollutants. However, the proposed development 
is considered significant in that it is highly likely to change traffic patterns and congestion in the 
area. 
 
Middlewich has two Air Quality Management Areas, and as such the cumulative impact of 
developments in the area is likely to make the situation worse, unless managed. 
 
Poor air quality is detrimental to the health and wellbeing of the public and also has a negative 
impact on the quality of life for sensitive individuals. It is therefore considered appropriate that 
mitigation should be sought in the form of direct measures to reduce the adverse air quality impact. 
 
A development of this scale and duration would be expected to have an adequate demolition and 
construction dust control plan, which should be implemented to protect sensitive receptors from 
impacts during this stage of the proposal and this is mentioned within the assessment as a form of 
mitigation. 
 
Environmental Health Officers have been consulted who advise should the application be 
recommended for approval, conditions relating to electric vehicle charging points and low emissions 

Page 25



 
OFFICIAL 

boilers would be necessary to ensure that local air quality is not adversely impacted for existing and 
future residents. 
 
Subject to conditions the proposal would comply with Policy SE12. 

 
Highways 
 
Policy INF3 advises proposal should comply with the relevant Highway Authority’s and other 
highway design guidance and provide safe access to and from the site for all highway users and 
incorporate safe internal movement in the site to meet the requirements of servicing and emergency 
vehicles. 
 
Sustainable access 
 
The site is within an acceptable walking distance of the employment area south of Holmes Chapel 
Road and also from the centre of Middlewich town centre which is approximately a 15 minute walk. 
There is existing pedestrian infrastructure available to these destinations which will also be 
improved with additional crossings as stated below.  
 
There are bus stops within walking distance to the north of the site on Centurion Way but these are 
poorly located with no safe standing area provided on the eastbound bus stop. These are to be re-
located outside of the site frontage on Centurion Way as seen on the latest plan and adjacent to 
these stops will be a new pedestrian access into the site. This service provides an hourly service 
to various destinations including Crewe, Congleton, and Holmes Chapel. 
 
Safe and suitable access 
 
Access will be provided via a new priority access with a right turn ghost island on Centurion Way, 
located approximately 120m north of the Holmes Chapel Road roundabout to the south and a 
similar distance from Byley Lane to the north. The access will also have adequate visibility and is 
considered acceptable to serve this level of development. 
 
There will be a shared pedestrian/cycle path that runs along the site frontage, and this has been 
incorporated into the site access as detailed in DfT guidance Local Transport Note 1/20. The access 
works will also be subject to a Road Safety Audit during the highway’s technical approval stage if 
the application is approved.   
 
The shared pedestrian/cycle path within the site will connect to a pedestrian site access off Byley 
Lane and a new dropped kerb crossing on it, followed by a dropped kerb crossing across Centurion 
Way. Adjacent to the main site access will be another pedestrian/cycle access with a dropped kerb 
crossing on Centurion Way. The pedestrian/cycle path continues to the south of the site where 
another pedestrian/cycle access to the site is to be provided in the proximity of the relocated bus 
stops, and just to the south of this will be a signalised crossing across Centurion Way. The shortest 
route into Middlewich for pedestrians is to the south and the location of the dropped kerb and 
signalised crossings are acceptable. In addition, there will also be a staggered signalised crossing 
across Holmes Chapel Road. 
 
For the proposed highway works a Stage 1 Road Safety Audit has been carried out with various 
recommendations including a speed limit reduction along the site frontage and associated highway 

Page 26



 
OFFICIAL 

design changes. These recommendations will be implemented and further RSAs carried out during 
detailed design stage and post opening. 
 
Network Capacity 
 
The development would typically generate approximately 60 vehicle trips during a peak hour and 
in addition would generate trips from pedestrians, cyclists, and public transport users.  
 
The previous application on this site obtained contributions towards highways improvements and 
to mitigate its own impact upon the highway. This current development should also contribute on a 
level reflecting the previous one, adjusted for inflation. Taking into consideration the additional cost 
of the highway works proposed to be carried out within a s278 by the applicant the required 
contribution will therefore be £6,329.23 per property. 
 
Around 20 of the properties are in Cheshire West who have acknowledged in their Highways 
response to the application that the majority of the highways impact will be in Cheshire East. A 
highways contribution from all properties is therefore requested which will go towards and MEB 
and/or the associated Leadsmithy Street junction proposals. 
 
Conclusion 
 
The access is acceptable to serve the development and there will be associated speed limit 
reduction and road markings. Pedestrian access into Middlewich will also be improved and no 
objection is raised subject to the following conditions and informative: 

 
Therefore, the proposal can be accommodated without severe highway impacts and complies with 
CELPS Policy CO1 and SADPD Policy INF3. 

 
Landscape 
 
Policy SE4 of the CELPS advises that the high quality of the built and natural environment is 
recognised as a significant characteristic of the borough. All development should conserve the 
landscape character and quality and should where possible, enhance and effectively manage the 
historic, natural and man-made landscape features that contribute to local distinctiveness of both 
rural and urban landscapes. 
 
A landscape Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) has been provided in support of the application. 
 
The Councils Landscape Officer has been consulted on this who advised that the proposals don’t 
really have a tree lined avenue on the main route in, whilst there are trees planted along route the 
intentions of the design guide are for something more substantial, therefore he wishes to see this 
enabled with a more detailed application stage by condition should the application be successful. 
This could be addressed at reserved matters stage as part of the landscaping scheme. 
 
The Landscape Officer does however consider the size of the scheme and other considerations 
throughout the scheme do in general give this proposal lots of areas of good green intervention. He 
does however have concerns how proposed trees located in from and back gardens can be secured 
indefinitely without threat of resident removal. He also suggests some increased planting to the 
adjacent highway, areas of large broadleaf native trees to fill gaps in the boundary editable fruit 

Page 27



 
OFFICIAL 

trees and native mix damson be included. This can be addressed at reserved maters stage to 
increase planting. 

 
In general, he broadly agrees with the conclusion of the submitted LVIA with regarding impacts of 
the proposal. Given this and that the fact that the site has been allocated for development some 
landscape impacts are inevitable, but it appears that they can be limited here subject to acceptable 
details being submitted at the Reserved Matters stage. 

 
As such the proposal could be accommodated without significant landscape impacts and complies 
with CELPS Policies SE4, ENV3 & ENV5 of the SADPD  

 
Trees  

 
Policy SE 5 of the LPS and ENV6 of the SADPD require that retained trees should be successfully 
integrated into the development design and take into account the ultimate mature size of trees and 
their relationship to buildings and private amenity space to avoid future conflict with residential 
amenities. 
 
The site does not presently benefit from any established tree cover within or adjacent to the 
development area. The site is bordered by hedgerows some of which may need to be removed to 
create the new access and associated visibility splays. 
 
Local Plan Policy SE 5 requires that all developments should ensure the sustainable management 
of trees, woodlands and hedgerows including the provision of new planting within new development 
to retain and improve canopy cover, enable climate adaptation resilience and support biodiversity.  
 
This planning application provides an opportunity to incorporate new planting in accordance with 
this policy.  
 
The Councils Forestry officer has also been consulted who raises no objections but suggests 
conditions which require the submission of a landscape scheme to meet the requirements of this 
policy and for any reserved matters application to be supported by a hedgerow assessment and 
include a plan which confirms intentions regards retention/removal of hedgerows and a scheme for 
protection measures during any construction period. 
 
Therefore, it appears that the proposal can be accommodated without harm to existing landscape 
features and complies with Policies SE5 & ENV6. 

 
Design 

 
In this instance as the application has been submitted in outline form, no details of design, 
appearance or layout have been provided and thus such impacts would be addressed at reserved 
matters stage. 
 
Access and Connectivity 
 
The site is allocated under Policy MID2 of the SADPD and as a result the location and wider 
connectivity to a range of existing services and facilities is accepted. 
 

Page 28



 
OFFICIAL 

With regard to vehicular access, in urban design terms the central location along the Centurion Way 
boundary opens up the site and enables a sensible layout. 
 
The indication of multiple pedestrian and cycle connections to both Centurion Way and Holmes 
Chapel Road are welcomed on the indicative layout, and it is strongly recommended that this 
approach is carried through as the design develops through the Reserved Matters process. 
 
Internally, the indicative layout is well connected, with the perimeter path welcomed as this not only 
assists connectivity but would also serve to promote activity. 
 
Site Layout 
 
Whilst the site layout provided is only indicative, this is an outward looking layout, with frontages 
overlooking open space and the open countryside and this is in line with the guidance set out in the 
CEBDG (CEC, 2017ii, ii|62, p.22) which states: 
 
“Where development forms a new urban edge to a settlement it should create an outward looking 
positive relationship with the adjoining countryside. The temptation in such locations is to totally 
hide the development from the wider countryside by screening with trees and mounding. This 
approach does not accord with the character of the borough…”.  
 
Other aspects of the indicative layout show promise, with what appear to be a good mix of house 
types, addressing streets well and turning corners to provide effective passive surveillance. 
 
Streets 
 
Again, the layout is only indicative, but there appears to be a suitable hierarchy of streets. Going 
forward it will be expected that this fully complies with the guidance set out in the CEBDG (CEC, 
2017ii, p34 onwards) including the design and specification of hard surfacing materials in line with 
the palette for the Salt and Engineering Towns (p.51). 
 
Parking 
 
Again, the layout is only indicative, but there appears to be a suitably mixed parking strategy 
emerging across most of the site. However, the design of the parking court to the flats is potentially 
problematic as a result of the number of uninterrupted adjacent bays and the enclosure with what 
appears to be rear and side garden boundaries. As the design develops some guidance is provided 
in the CEBDG, but it is suggested that planting and specification of surface materials will be key – 
in short this will need a more landscape-led approach in this edge of settlement location. 
 
The properties to the Holmes Chapel Road frontage will have their parking areas immediately front 
the road. This would need addressing at reserved matters stage to prevent the frontage being 
dominated by parking. This could be resolved by tweaking the layout or introducing planting/green 
area between highway and driveway. 
 
Open Space and Landscape 
 
The POS is well-located at the centre of the indicative layout and the surveillance over this space 
is generally good. One area for improvement is the positioning of the garage to the north-eastern 

Page 29



 
OFFICIAL 

corner of the POS, ideally this should be removed and the house to be dual aspect. This can be 
addressed at reserved matters stage. 
 
Crucial to the Outline permission is the compliance with Policy MID2 of the SADPD and as such 
the retention of all possible existing hedgerows, and the replacement of those that will unavoidably 
have to be removed (for visibility splays etc.) is appreciated.  
 
Similarly, the detailed landscape strategy produced by Urban Green is considered to be successful. 
it constitutes a suitable response to the requirement to produce a comprehensive landscape 
scheme to mitigate the impact of the development. 
 
Scale and Massing 
 
The development ranges from 3-storeys for the apartments to the southern boundary to a mix of 2 
and 2.5 storey (with a maximum of 2.5) to the remainder as outlined in the parameter plan on p.14 
of the DAS. Given the location of the site, this is a sensible arrangement with the denser layout to 
the south. However, there are some issues: 
 
- The near ‘wall’ of 3-storey apartments to Holmes Chapel Road is problematic. Whilst detailed 

design is reserved, and there is some indication that these blocks may be broken up  with lower 
linkages, the monolithic effect of this wall needs further work to break it up and provide a more 
porous edge on this gateway route.  

 
- Going up to 2.5 storeys across the rest of the site is acceptable in principle, but the majority of 

the development should be at 2-storeys, with taller buildings only located at key locations. 
 
This would be addressed at reserved matters stage, but clearly can be accommodated. 
 
Architecture and Materials 
 
For the reserved maters application, a commitment to context including locally inspired detailing 
and materials specification will be sought going forward as per Vol.1 of the Cheshire East Borough 
Design Guide (CEC, 2017i) specifically under the section relating to Salt and Engineering Towns 
(p.51-58). 
 
Overall 
 
The Councils Design Officer therefore raises no objection and the design matters can be adequately 
assessed at the Reserved Matters stage. Therefore, it appears that the proposal can be 
accommodated without causing harm to the character/appearance of the area and complies with 
Policy SE1 of the CELPS, GEN1 of the SADPD and the Cheshire East Urban Design Guide SPD. 

 
Ecology 

 
Statutory Designated Sites 
 
The Councils Ecologist advises that the site of the proposed development falls within Natural 
England’s SSSI impact risk zone for residential development. He notes that Natural England initially 
requested further information in respect of bird species associated with the Sandbach Flashes 

Page 30



 
OFFICIAL 

SSSI. Following the submission of further information Natural England have made further 
comments advising that they have no objection in this regard. 
 
Breeding Birds 
 
The bird survey undertaken to inform an earlier application at this site identified the presence of a 
number of priority species. Priority species are a material consideration for planning. An updated 
breeding bird survey has now been submitted which recoded evidence of only a single relatively 
widespread priority species as possible breeding on site. 
 
The regular presence of ‘probably’ breeding Yellow Wagtail would be sufficient for the site to qualify 
as a Local Wildlife Site.  
 
It is likely that skylark and yellow wagtail, which are ground nesting open country species, would be 
adversely affected as a result of the proposed development if they were breeding on site.  
 
The updated breeding bird survey found no evidence of breeding by Skylark or Yellow Wagtail on 
site. Therefore, ground nesting birds, such as these two species, are not likely to be affected by the 
proposed development. 
 
The retention of the majority of the existing hedgerows and the addition of further planting would 
help to reduce the impacts of the proposed development upon bird species associated with these 
habitats. 
. 
The site-specific policies for this allocated site include the need for a strategy for the provision of 
long term management of off-site habitat for ground nesting birds, but based on the latest survey 
ground nesting birds would not be affected by the proposed development.  
 
If outline consent is granted, the Councils Ecologist advises that standard conditions to safeguard 
nesting birds be applied at the reserved matters stage and features for birds can be secured through 
an ecological enhancement condition. 
 
Hedgerows 
 
Hedgerows are a priority habitat and hence a material consideration. It is likely that the proposed 
development would result in the loss of existing hedgerow to facilitate the site access. If outline 
consent is granted it must be ensured that any hedgerow unavoidable lost at the detailed design 
stage is compensated for through suitable replacement hedgerow planting. The loss of hedgerows 
has been considered as part of the submitted Biodiversity net Gain report discussed below. 
 
Lighting 
 
Whilst the application site offers limited opportunities for roosting bats, bats are likely to commute 
and forage around the site to some extent. To avoid any adverse impacts on bats resulting from 
any lighting associated with the development the Councils Ecologist recommends that if outline 
planning permission is granted a condition should be attached requiring any additional lighting to 
be agreed with the LPA. 

 
 

Page 31



 
OFFICIAL 

Hedgehog 
 
No evidence of this priority species was observed during the submitted survey report, however the 
submitted ecological assessment however advises that it may be present on site. The Councils 
Ecologist advises that the application site does not offer optimal habitat for this species and so the 
proposed development would be likely to result only in a low impact upon this species is present. 
The incorporation of features for hedgehogs can be secured through the ecological enhancement 
condition. 

 
Biodiversity Net Gain 
 
Local Plan Policy SE 3(5) requires all developments to aim to positively contribute to the 
conservation of biodiversity and Policy ENV2 requires schemes to deliver a Biodiversity Net Gain. 
In order to assess the impacts of the development the applicant has undertaken and submitted an 
Biodiversity Metric calculation. 
 
The submitted metric shows that the proposed development would result in a net gain for 
biodiversity for both area-based habitats and hedgerows provided the habitat enhancements 
included in the metric are incorporated into the detailed design at the reserved matters stage. 
 
If planning consent is granted a condition is required to ensure the delivery of a Biodiversity Net 
Gain.  
 
Ecological Enhancement 
 
This planning application provides an opportunity to incorporate features to increase the biodiversity 
value of the development in accordance with Local Plan Policy SE 3.  
 
If outline planning permission is granted a condition should be attached which requires the 
submission of an ecological enhancement strategy.  
 
Therefore, subject to the suggested conditions it appears that the development can be 
accommodated without significant ecological impacts and complies with Policies SE3  of the CELPS 
and ENV1 & ENV2 of the SADPD 

 
Flood Risk 

 
The application site is located within Flood Zone 1 according to the Environment Agency Flood 
Maps however the site area is over 1 hectare, therefore a Flood Risk Assessment is required. 
 
An FRA has been provided in support of the application and concludes that the Environment Agency 
maps indicate that the site is within a flood zone 1 with low probability of fluvial flooding. All other 
sources of flooding for the site has been investigated and shown to be of minimal or no risk. The 
proposed development is therefore considered to be appropriate and sustainable in the terms set 
out in the NPPF. 

 
The Councils Flood Risk Team have been consulted who initially requested further information 
regarding finished floor levels, cross sections and the exceedance plan shows flood path off site to 
Byely Lane/Byely Road. Further information has since been provided and consequently they raise 

Page 32



 
OFFICIAL 

no objection subject to conditions requiring full details and cross sections of all drainage strategy 
assets and for the drainage design, excluding cross section detail, must proceed in accordance 
with the submitted Causeway Flow report. 

 
United Utilities have been consulted and have raised no objection in principle. However, they do 
query discharging to the public UU surface water sewer, and they suggest a condition requiring 
details of a sustainable surface water drainage scheme and a foul water drainage scheme. 

 
As a result, it is not considered that the proposal would pose any significant drainage/flood risk 
issues and drainage details could be secured by condition and complies with Policy SE13 of the 
CELPS and ENV16 of the SADPD. 
 
Climate Change  
 
Policy ENV7 of the SADPD requires that all ‘major’ residential development schemes should 
provide for at least 10% of their energy needs from renewable or low carbon energy generation on 
site unless the applicant can clearly demonstrate that having regard to the type of development and 
its design, this is not feasible or viable. This could be controlled via the imposition of a planning 
condition. 
 
Minerals 
 
The application site lies within an area of known sand and gravel resources.  The current sand and 
gravel landbank in Cheshire East is at 4.11 years which is well below the ‘at least 7 years’ provision 
required by CELPS policy SE10 and NPPF over the plan period, therefore the loss of any mineral 
resource in Cheshire East is an important consideration. 

 
The site is not identified in the existing Cheshire Replacement Minerals Local Plan 1999 as an area 
for future mineral extraction.   
 
The NPPF requires mineral resources to be safeguarded by defining Mineral Safeguarding Areas; 
and requires LPAs to adopt policies that prevent sterilisation of mineral resources by non-mineral 
development. It also supports the prior extraction of minerals where practical and environmentally 
feasible, if non-minerals development is necessary. 
 
CELPS policy SE10 states that minerals in Cheshire East will be safeguarded through the definition 
of Mineral Safeguarding Areas, which will be defined in the Site Allocations and Development 
Policies Document and within these areas, mineral resources will be protected from unnecessary 
sterilisation by other development.   
 
The SADPD however does not define any mineral safeguarding areas or include any policies on 
mineral safeguarding as it was intended that these would be included in the new Minerals and 
Waste Plan.  Whilst the emerging draft Minerals and Waste Plan does identify the site as within a 
sand and gravel safeguarding area, no weight can be applied to this plan as progress has only 
reached regulation 18 stage.  Therefore, at present Cheshire East does not currently have any 
mineral safeguarding areas or specific policies for safeguarding aside from the general provisions 
set out in the CELPS.    
 
SADPD policy MID2 includes a requirement for a mineral resource assessment.   

Page 33



 
OFFICIAL 

 
A Minerals Resource Assessment (MRA) has been submitted which identifies that the site is 
underlain by sand and gravel deposits. This has been assessed by the Council Minerals and Waste 
Officer who advises that the proposal would result in the loss of sand and gravel resource which 
could potentially in future (subject to securing planning permission) contribute towards improving 
the overall sand and gravel landbank in the authority which is currently below the 7-year policy 
requirement.  However this loss of mineral resource has already been accepted in the allocation of 
the site under MID2 subject to the provision of an MRA. 
 
The scope of the MRA does not follow established guidance referenced in SADPD policy MID2 
(Minerals Safeguarding Practice Guidance v1.4 (2019, The Mineral Products Association &The 
Planning Officers Society) and in particular does not meet the components listed in Annex 1 of the 
guidance.  In particular it does not address: 
 
- The economic value and viability of the mineral i.e. the market interest; and 
- Potential options for prior extraction including the nearby operators that could extract and 

process the material, and consideration of opportunities for on-site use 
 
The MRA is not based on any ground investigations carried out on the application site; it instead 
relies on limited data obtained from BGS GeoIndex Onshore borehole records based on three 
boreholes located in the wider area which are between 20m and 130m away from the site (the 
precise locations of which are not provided).  The MRA should be based on detailed ground 
investigations carried out on site to provide an accurate appraisal of the potential mineral yield and 
exact depth of the water table (and indeed this is recommended in the MRA).  In the absence of 
these investigations, the borehole data can only provide a broad indication of the likely mineral 
resources in the area and potential environmental conditions on the site.   

 
The Council accept the points made in the MRA that there would likely be a need for a standoff 
from receptors in this location which would sterilise part of the potential mineral resources available, 
and which could potentially adversely impact the overall viability of extracting the mineral resources.  
It also accepts that a high-water table would be likely to significantly impact on the viability of future 
development on the site.  The absence of detailed ground investigations however means that it is 
difficult to accurately assess these impacts and conclude on the overall likely extent of sterilisation 
and viability of extraction.    
 
Overall therefore, it is considered that there are shortcomings in the submitted mineral resource 
assessment and more detailed ground investigations are required to provide an accurate picture of 
the ground conditions on the site.  
 
Therefore further information has been requested from the applicant, which is expected to be 
available for the update report along with revised comments on the Councils Minerals and Waste 
Officer. 
 
CIL Compliance 
 
In order to comply with the Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010 it is necessary for planning 
applications with planning obligations to consider the issue of whether the requirements within the 
S106 satisfy the following:  
(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 

Page 34



 
OFFICIAL 

(b) directly related to the development; and  
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 
 
The development would result in increased demand for education provision in Middlewich where 
there is limited spare capacity. In order to increase capacity of the local schools which would support 
the proposed development, a contribution towards education provision is required. This is 
considered to be necessary and fair and reasonable in relation to the development. 
 
The development requires on-site POS and the site is in an area of the Borough where there is a 
shortfall in provision and would require outdoor sport mitigation in accordance with Policies within 
the CELPS. This is considered to be necessary and fair and reasonable in relation to the 
development. 
 
The development would directly impact on medical provision in the local area, therefore 
contributions towards the NHS is required to mitigate impacts in accordance with Policies in the 
CELPS. This is considered to be necessary and fair and reasonable in relation to the development 
and surgeries have been identified where this could be spent. 
 
The development requires contributions towards highways improvements and to mitigate its own 
impact upon the highway in accordance with Policies in the CELPS. This is considered to be 
necessary and fair and reasonable in relation to the development and a scheme where this will be 
spent has been identified. 

 
OTHER 
 
The majority of neighbour responses have been addressed in the report above. The following 
issues remain which will be addressed below: 

 
• Road speed should be reduced – the Councils Highways Engineer has considered the proposal 

and not advised a speed reduction 
  
• Outside of CE land – two applications have been submitted to CEC and CWAC for 

consideration 
 

PLANNING BALANCE  
 
The site is located both within the Settlement Boundary for Middlewich, as such Policy PG9 of the 
SADPD identifies that within the Settlement Boundary proposals 'will be supported where they are 
in keeping with the scale, role and function of that settlement and do not conflict with any other 
relevant policy in the local plan'. The site is also allocated for residential development of around 75 
new homes under SADPD Policy MID 2. 
 
As such the proposal, subject to the additional minerals assessment, is acceptable from a land use 
perspective and complies with the allocation under Policy MID 2. 
 
The benefits of the proposal would be the provision of open market and affordable housing and the 
limited economic benefits during construction.  
 

Page 35



 
OFFICIAL 

The proposed housing mix would be secured at reserved maters to comply with SADPD Policy 
HOU8. 
 
The development appears capable of being accommodated with resulting in harm to living 
conditions of neighbouring properties and complies with SADPD Policy HOU12. 

 
The proposal would not cause harm to existing landscape features and complies with CELPS 
Policies SE5 & SADPD policy ENV6.  
 
The proposal would not result in any significant ecological harm and complies with CELPS Policies 
SE3 and SADPD policies ENV1 & ENV 2. 
 
The proposal appears capable of being accommodated without causing harm to the 
character/appearance of the area to comply with CELPS Policies SE1 & SADPD policy GEN1 and 
the Design Guide SPD. 
 
The development would not have significant drainage/flood risk implications and would be 
compliant with CELPS SE13 & SADPD ENV16. 
 
In conclusion the proposal subject to minerals assessment and POS complies with the development 
plan as a whole and is recommended for approval. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Subject to the submission of an acceptable Minerals Resource Assessment. APPROVE 
subject to the completion of a S106 Agreement with the following Heads of Terms: 
 

S106 Amount Triggers 

Affordable 
Housing 
 

30% on site provision (65% 
affordable/social rent and 35% 
intermediate tenure). 
 
 

In accordance with phasing 
plan. 
 

Education 
 
 

£26,717 per secondary pupil place 
generated by the development. 
£74,920 per SEN pupil place 
generated by the development. 

To be paid prior to the 
occupation of the 20th 
dwelling 

NHS 1 bed – £713 
2 bed – £1019 
3 bed – £1426.50 
4 bed – £1783 
5 bed – £2445.50 
 

To be paid prior to the 
occupation of the 40th 
dwelling 

POS Provision of Open Space, and a 
NEAP/LEAP (to be confirmed) and 
a scheme of management. 
 
Allotment/food growth contribution: 
£562.50 per dwelling 

Open Space Scheme and 
scheme of management to 
be submitted and approved 
prior to the commencement 
of development. 
 

Page 36



 
OFFICIAL 

                     
 
Outdoor sport facilities contribution: 
£1564.54 per family (2+ bed)  
dwelling and £782.27 per bed  
space to a maximum of  
£1564.54 per apartment.   
 

Contributions to be paid 
prior to the occupation of 
the 40th dwelling 

Highways 
 

Middlewich Eastern Bypass/ 
Leadsmithy Street works  
£6,329.23 per property 

50% be paid prior to the 
occupation of the 20th 
dwelling. 
 
50% be paid prior to the 
occupation of the 40th 
dwelling 
 
 

 
 
AND the following conditions: 
 
1) Standard Condition – time limit submission of the Reserved Matters 
2) Standard Condition – time limit implementation of development 
3) Standard Condition – submission of the Reserved Mattes (to include the internal road 

network) 
4) Approved Plans 
5) Sustainable surface water drainage scheme and a foul water drainage scheme 
6) The access works shown on plan J32-5520-PS-001 should be complete prior to first 

occupation (this includes off-site highway works, the crossing points, bus stops and the 
combined footway/cycleway) 

7) Construction Management Plan should be submitted and approved which provides 
details of contractor and construction vehicle parking, loading/unloading locations, 
storage areas, and details of wheel wash facilities. 

8) Reserved matters to include features for nesting birds. 
9) Reserved matters to include lighting scheme. 
10) Reserved matters application must be accompanied by a habitat creation method 

statement; ecological monitoring strategy and a 30 year habitat management plan for the 
retained, enhanced and newly created habitats for that phase of the development. 

11) Reserved matters application should be supported by a strategy for the incorporation of 
features to enhance the biodiversity value of the proposed development. 

12) Prior to occupation, full details and cross sections of all drainage strategy assets must 
be provided to and agreed by the LPA. 

13) Drainage design, excluding cross section detail, must proceed in accordance with 
Causeway Flow report. 

14) Reserved matters application shall be supported by a hedgerow assessment and include 
a plan which confirms intentions regards retention/removal of hedgerows and a scheme 
for protection measures during any construction period 

15) Prior to occupation of the development, the developer shall submit information 
confirming that all installed gas-fired boilers 

Page 37



 
OFFICIAL 

16) Noise mitigation measures to be submitted and approved as part of the Reserved Matters 
application. 

17) Contaminated land – risk assessment 
18) Contaminated land – verification report 
19) Contaminated land – soil importation 
20) Contaminated land – unexpected contamination 
21) Prior to commencement of development, a written scheme of archaeological 

investigation 
22) Prior to the occupation/use of the hereby approved development, a programme for post-

excavation assessment/reporting and (where required), analysis, publication, and 
archiving. 

23) Development to proceed in accordance with details and measures in the ecological 
assessment. 

24) At least 30% of the dwellings in housing developments should comply with the 
requirements of M4(2) Category 2 of the Building Regulations regarding accessible and 
adaptable dwellings. 

25) At least 6% of the dwellings in housing developments should comply with the 
requirement m4 (3)(2)(a) Category 3 of the Building Regulations regarding wheelchair 
adaptable dwellings. 

26) The Reserved Matters application shall include a statement to confirm that all dwellings 
comply with the NDSS. 

27) Low emission boilers 
28) 10% of energy needs to be from renewable or low carbon energy 
 
In order to give proper effect to the Board`s/Committee`s intent and without changing the 
substance of its decision, authority is delegated to the Head of Planning (Regulation) in 
consultation with the Chair (or in their absence the Vice Chair) to correct any technical slip 
or omission in the resolution, before issue of the decision notice. 
 
Should the application be subject to an appeal, the following Heads of Terms should be 
secured as part of any S106 Agreement: 
 

S106 Amount Triggers 

Affordable Housing 
 

30% on site provision (65% 
affordable/social rent and 35% 
intermediate tenure). 
 

In accordance with 
phasing plan. 
 

Education 
 
 

£26,717 per secondary pupil 
place generated by the 
development. 
£74,920 per SEN pupil place 
generated by the development. 

To be paid prior to the 
occupation of the 20th 
dwelling 

NHS 1 bed – £713 
2 bed – £1019 
3 bed – £1426.50 
4 bed – £1783 
5 bed – £2445.50 
 

To be paid prior to the 
occupation of the 40th 
dwelling 

Page 38



 
OFFICIAL 

POS Provision of Open Space, and a 
NEAP/LEAP (to be confirmed) 
and a scheme of management. 
 
Allotment/food growth 
contribution: £562.50 per 
dwelling 
                     
 
Outdoor sport facilities 
contribution: 
£1564.54 per family (2+ bed)  
dwelling and £782.27 per bed  
space to a maximum of  
£1564.54 per apartment.   
 

Open Space Scheme 
and scheme of 
management to be 
submitted and approved 
prior to the 
commencement of 
development. 
 
Contributions to be 
paid prior to the 
occupation of the 40th 
dwelling 

Highways 
 

Middlewich Eastern Bypass/ 
Leadsmithy Street works  
£6,329.23 per property 

50% be paid prior to the 
occupation of the 20th 
dwelling. 
 
50% be paid prior to the 
occupation of the 40th 
dwelling 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



 
OFFICIAL 

 
 
 
 

P
age 40



 

 

23/2353C 

Land at Centurion Way 

Middlewich 

P
age 41



33

41

42

25

34

32

2

1

33

41

42

25

34

32

2

1

BUS
STOP

BUS
STOP

KEY

Soft Works
PROPOSED TREE PLANTING

MULTISTEM TREE PLANTING

RED LINE BOUNDARY

AMENITY GRASS AREAS

GRASS TO BACK GARDEN

HEDGEROW PLANTING

ORNAMENTAL PLANTING MIX

Hard Works

PEDESTRIAN TARMAC

BLOCK PAVING
To car parking spaces & shared drives

SELF BOUND GRAVEL PATHS

BLOCK PAVING
To vehicular junctions

NATIVE WOODLAND PLANTING MIX

SPECIES RICH GRASSLAND
& WILDFLOWER AREAS

SUDS POND

MARGINAL PLANTING

PROPOSED PLAY SPACE
Details of equipment to be confirmed

BOULDERS

CLOSEDBOARD TIMBER FENCE
To back residential gardens, 1800mm high

SAFETY SURFACE TO PLAYGROUND
Type TBC

VEHICULAR TARMAC

GROUNDCOVER PLANTING

VEHICULAR COLOURED TARMAC
Colour buff

CONCRETE PAVER

Do not scale this drawing (printed or electronic version).

Contractors must check all dimensions from site

This drawing is copyright and is for use on this site only. This drawing should be read in conjunction
with all relevant consultants drawings and specialist subcontractors / supply chain drawings and
specifications.

All works to be carried out in accordance with the latest British Standards / Codes of Practice unless
specifically directed otherwise in the specification.

Responsibility for the reproduction of this drawing in paper form, or issued in electronic format, lies with
the recipient to check that all information has been replicated in full and is correct when comparedto
the original paper or electronic image.

Graphical representations of equipment on this drawing have been co-ordinated, but are
approximations only. Please refer to the specifications and / or details for actual sizes and / or specific
contractor construction information.

Notes:-

Project:

Dwg No:

Date:

Client:

Title:

Issue:

Drawn: Checked: Approved:

Revision:

Scale @ A1:

Project:

REV. DATE DESCRIPTION DRAWN CHK'D

A:   Ground Floor, The Tower,
       Deva City Office Park, Trinity Way,
       Manchester M3 7BF

T:    +44 (0) 161 312 3131

weareurbangreen.co.uk

UG1852 26/01/2023

General Arrangement
Plan

UG_1852_LAN_GA_DRW_100

Planning

MEKT SA

P09

1:500

Centurion Way
Middlewich

J. Beeson

07.03.23 First issue KT MEP01

29.03.23 Layout Updated SH KTP02

20.04.23 Layout Updated SH KTP03

28.04.23 Layout Updated SH KTP04

17.05.23 Layout Updated SH KTP05

26.06.23 Layout Updated TH SAP06

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45m
SCALE

50

1:500

02.07.24 Layout Updated SW SAP07

04.07.24 RS SAP08 Layout Updated

10.07.24 TH SAP09 Layout Updated

P
age 42



33

41

42

25

34

32

2

1

33

41

42

25

34

32

2

1

BUS

STOP

BUS

STOP

LEGEND

Application Boundary

Affordable Housing

Council Boundary

NOTES

• Refer to Highway Engineer's drawings for additional 
information.

• Refer to Landscape Architect's drawings for additional 
information.

• Refer to Drainage Engineer's drawings for additional 
information.

Type Qty GEA (m2)Beds

A

B

D

Total

10

5

5

20 Units

2b

4b

4b

88

135

140

Cheshire West and Chester Phase

75

115

120

GIA (m2)

Affordable Housing Requirement = 50%

10no. Type A units to be designated as affordable 
housing. Total 50% of 20 units.

Type Qty GEA (m2)Beds

A

B

D

E

J

K

Total

21

10

9

24

14

17

95 Units

2b

4b

4b

3b

2b

2b

88

135

140

100

81

70

Cheshire East Council and Cheshire West and Chester 
Phases

75

115

120

84

70

61

GIA (m2)

CENTURION WAY

HOLMES CHAPEL ROAD 

BYLEY LANE

CWaC

CEC

C
W

a
C

C
E

C

A

A

A

A

D

D

B

V

V

A

A

B

B

D

D

D

B

A
A

A
A

B

CENTURION WAY

HOLMES CHAPEL ROAD 

BYLEY LANE

BinCWaC

CEC

C
W

a
C

C
E

C

3x J

3x K

3x J

3x J

3x J

2x K

3x K

3x K

3x K

3x K

B

B

D

E

E

E

E

E

E

D

E

E

E
E

E

E

A

A

E

E

E

E

E

E

A

A

A

E

E

2x J

E

E

A

A

A

B

B

D

A

A

A

E

E

B

D

Pumping Station
10.0m x 12.0m fenced compound. Contains 
above-ground kiosk, manhole to the wet well 
and valve chamber. Also to inlcude floodlights 
and lifting points for the pumps. 
Refer to Drainage Strategy Design drawing 
from Patrick Parsons for more detail drwg ref: 
'BYL-PPC-00-XX-DR-C-0200' & 'BYL-PPC-00-
XX-DR-C-0201'.

LEAP Activity Zone 
(400sqm)

Pond + Drainage
Refer to Drainage Strategy Design drawing 
from Patrick Parsons for more detail drwg ref: 
'BYL-PPC-00-XX-DR-C-0200' & 'BYL-PPC-00-
XX-DR-C-0201'.

Highways
Refer to Highway Engineer's drawings for more 
detail drwg ref: 'J32-5520-PS-001' and 
'J32-5520-PS-002'.

Type Qty GEA (m2)Beds

A

B

D

E

J

K

Total

11

5

4

24

14

17

75 Units

2b

4b

4b

3b

2b

2b

88

135

140

100

81

70

Cheshire East Council Phase

75

115

120

84

70

61

GIA (m2)

Affordable Housing Requirement = 30%

17no. Type K Units and 11no. Type A Units to be 
designated as affordable housing. Total 37% of 75 units.

340 Firecrest Court
Warrington
WA1 1RG
t: 01925 751 852
e: info@c4projects.co.uk
www.c4projects.co.uk

C4 Job no.

Rev

Scale

Drawn by

@ A1

Drawing Title

Project

Client

Cost ConsultancyArchitectureProject Management Building Surveying

Drg no.

This drawing is © C4 Projects and is not to be copied, reproduced or re-
distributed either in whole or in part without the prior written permission of the 
originator.

The originator shall have no responsibility for any liability, loss, cost, damage 
or expense arising from or relating to any use of this document other than for 
its intended purpose on this project. 

This drawing shall be read in conjunction with all other relevant drawings, 
specifications and associated documentation. Any discrepencies, errors or 
omissions are to be reported to the originator before proceeding with work. 

All dimensions are to be checked on site by the contractor prior to proceeding 
with any work. This drawing shall not be scaled to ascertain any dimensions, 
work to figured dimensions only.

DISCLAIMER
When this drawing is issued in CAD, it is an uncontrolled version issued for 
information only, to enable the recipient to prepare their own documents/ 
drawings for which they are solely responsible.

SOFTWARE INTEROPERABILITY
C4 Projects prepared this drawing using Autodesk REVIT Architecture.

C4 Projects does not accept liability for any loss or degradation of any 
information held in the drawing resulting from the translation from the original 
file format to any other file format or from the recipients reading of it in any 
other programme.

Created

SUITABLE FOR INFORMATIONS2

Status Purpose of Issue

Drawing Status

P7

As indicated

20139-C4P-AV-ZZ-DR-A-0505

Illustrative Masterplan (CEC and CWaC)

20139

TO

Residential Development, Middlewich
Land at Centurion Way & Byley Lane

Blok (UK) Ltd

01/24

INFORMATIONN

VISUAL SCALE 1:500  @ A1

10m 40m30m20m0m

1 : 500

05_Illustrative Masterplan (CEC and CWaC Phase)
01

Rev Revision Details Drawn Date Checked

P1 First Issue of Drawing TO 26.01.24 SS

P2 Revised layout and house types TO 15.02.24 SS

P3 Revised layout to increase central green
amenity space

TO 21.03.24 SS

P4 Addition of Pumping Station to north of
the site

TO 21.05.24 SS

P5 Addition of LEAP to central green
amenity space

TO 24.05.24 SS

P6 Amended cycle route and drainage
pond

TO 02.07.24 NR

P7 Adjustment of drainage compound TO 09.07.24 NR

P
age 43



33.473

GP

GP

GP

GP

GP

GP

FH

POST

7.3m

proposed toucan crossings located minimum of 20m from the junction
on north and west roundabout arms to connect to routes towards

middlewich town centre and other amenities

primary vehicular access with ghost-island
priority junction arrangement

pedestrian refuge crossing point

pedestrian refuge crossing point

pedestrian refuge crossing point

extension of shared cycle/footway
to crossing point

2.4m x 62.8m visibility splay (DMRB 29.2mph)

2.4m x 68.2m visibility splay (DMRB 30.8mph)

pedestrian site access location

3.2m
3.2m

3.2m
deceleration lane designed to CD123
for design speed of 70kmph

R10m

5.5m cycle lane priority as defined by LTN 1/20

primary pedestrian and cycle access connecting
directly to proposed crossing location

indicative location of relocated bus stops consisting
of shelter, flag, pole and bus cage markings

BUS
STOP

BUS
STOP

start of combined footway/cycleway

cyclist directed off main carriageway onto
internal combined footway/cycleway

change of speed limit location relocated
subject to relevant TRO

extension of shared cycle/footway
to crossing point

Fi
le

na
m

e:
 \

\M
A

C
\H

O
M

E\
M

O
D

E 
D

R
O

PB
O

X
\P

R
O

JE
C

T\
M

A
N

C
H

ES
TE

R
\2

. P
R

O
JE

C
TS

\J
32

55
20

_
LA

N
D

 O
FF

 C
EN

TU
R

IO
N

 W
A

Y
, M

ID
D

LE
W

IC
H

\5
. G

R
A

PH
IC

S\
2.

 C
A

D
\2

. S
H

EE
TS

\J
32

-5
52

0-
PS

-0
01

 R
EV

 F
.D

W
G

La
st

 s
av

ed
 b

y:
 L

U
K

EW
H

EE
LE

R
   

  L
as

t 
Pl

ot
te

d:
 2

02
4

-0
7-

10
Pr

oj
ec

t 
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
In

it
ia

ls
:

D
es

ig
ne

r:
C

he
ck

ed
:

A
pp

ro
ve

d:
LC

W
M

A
M

E
IS

O
 A

3 
29

7m
m

 x
 4

20
m

m
Fi

le
na

m
e:

 \
\M

A
C

\H
O

M
E\

M
O

D
E 

D
R

O
PB

O
X

\P
R

O
JE

C
T\

M
A

N
C

H
ES

TE
R

\2
. P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\J

32
55

20
_

LA
N

D
 O

FF
 C

EN
TU

R
IO

N
 W

A
Y

, M
ID

D
LE

W
IC

H
\5

. G
R

A
PH

IC
S\

2.
 C

A
D

\2
. S

H
EE

TS
\J

32
-5

52
0-

PS
-0

01
 R

EV
 F

.D
W

G
La

st
 s

av
ed

 b
y:

 L
U

K
EW

H
EE

LE
R

   
  L

as
t 

Pl
ot

te
d:

 2
02

4
-0

7-
10

Pr
oj

ec
t 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

In
it

ia
ls

:
D

es
ig

ne
r:

C
he

ck
ed

:
A

pp
ro

ve
d:

IS
O

 A
3 

29
7m

m
 x

 4
20

m
m

drawing title:
preliminary site access

drawing number:
J32-5520-PS-001

1. this drawing is to be read in conjunction with all
other relevant drawings, any discrepancies,
errors or omissions to be brought to the attention
of overseeing organisation.

2. all dimensions to be checked before 
commencement of work on site.

3. all dimensions in metres unless otherwise
stated.

4. the  design is subject to approval of cheshire
east council.

5. drawing based on os mapping.

issue/revision

notes:

i/r date description
12/05/2022 issued-

scale: 1:500@A3

project number: J325520

t   0161 464 9495
e   info@modetranport.co.uk
w  www.modetransport.co.uk

mode
transport planning

project: land off centurion way,
middlewich

client: BLOK (UK) Ltd

M
E

M
A

LC
W

29/03/2023 issuedA
11/05/2023 issuedB
17/08/2023 issuedC
25/09/2023 issuedD
25/06/2024 issuedE
10/07/2024 issuedF

P
age 44



NOTES

• This drawing is to be read in conjunction with the 
Illustrative Masterplan. Drwg Ref: '20139-C4P-AV-ZZ-
DR-A-0505 - Illustrative Masterplan (CEC and CWaC 
Phase)'.

340 Firecrest Court
Warrington
WA1 1RG
t: 01925 751 852
e: info@c4projects.co.uk
www.c4projects.co.uk

C4 Job no.

Rev

Scale

Drawn by

@ A1

Drawing Title

Project

Client

Cost ConsultancyArchitectureProject Management Building Surveying

Drg no.

This drawing is © C4 Projects and is not to be copied, reproduced or re-
distributed either in whole or in part without the prior written permission of the 
originator.

The originator shall have no responsibility for any liability, loss, cost, damage 
or expense arising from or relating to any use of this document other than for 
its intended purpose on this project. 

This drawing shall be read in conjunction with all other relevant drawings, 
specifications and associated documentation. Any discrepencies, errors or 
omissions are to be reported to the originator before proceeding with work. 

All dimensions are to be checked on site by the contractor prior to proceeding 
with any work. This drawing shall not be scaled to ascertain any dimensions, 
work to figured dimensions only.

DISCLAIMER
When this drawing is issued in CAD, it is an uncontrolled version issued for 
information only, to enable the recipient to prepare their own documents/ 
drawings for which they are solely responsible.

SOFTWARE INTEROPERABILITY
C4 Projects prepared this drawing using Autodesk REVIT Architecture.

C4 Projects does not accept liability for any loss or degradation of any 
information held in the drawing resulting from the translation from the original 
file format to any other file format or from the recipients reading of it in any 
other programme.

Created

SUITABLE FOR INFORMATIONS2

Status Purpose of Issue

Drawing Status

P5

1 : 500

20139-C4P-AV-ZZ-DR-A-0501

Parameter Plan

20139

TO

Residential Development, Middlewich
Land at Centurion Way & Byley Lane

Blok (UK) Ltd

03.04.23

INFORMATIONN

VISUAL SCALE 1:1000  @ A1

20m 80m60m40m0m

Rev Revision Details Drawn Date Checked

P1 First Issue TO 20.04.23 EC

P2 Updated project information TO 12.05.23 EC

P3 Updated development and green
infrastructure boundaries

TO 04.07.24 NR

P4 Additional updates to development and
green infrastructure boundaries

TO 04.07.24 NR

P5 Adjustment of drainage compound TO 09.07.24 NR

P
age 45



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	5 23/2353C - LAND AT CENTURION WAY, MIDDLEWICH: Outline planning application for the erection of residential dwellings, green infrastructure with access and scale included all other matters Reserved
	Key Plans 23 2353C
	FRONT SHEET TEMPLATE
	EBCA884B3E9E11EF92BB0050568BA7B9
	EBCA88463E9E11EF92BB0050568BA7B9
	Sheets
	0505 - Illustrative Masterplan (CEC and CWaC)


	B497CF853F8611EF92BC0050568B6307
	Sheets and Views
	001


	EBCA88423E9E11EF92BB0050568BA7B9
	Sheets
	0501 - Parameter Plan





